
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 
 

STRATEGIC HOUSING 
BOARD 

 
Councillor D J Mote (Chairman) 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor T A Maddison 
 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 

 
Friday 28 January 2022 

 
at 2.00 pm at the Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent DA1 1DR 

 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

Thursday 20 January 2022 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

 



 

 
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 

AGENDA 
 

Friday 28 January 2022 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms of any Grant(s) of Dispensation by the Audit Board or by the 
Chief Officer & Director  of Corporate Services. 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic 
Housing Board held on  13 October 2021 and Matters Arising 
(Pages 1 - 8) 

 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board 
held on 13 October 2021 as an accurate record.  
 

 

4. Urgent Items   

5. References from Other Committees   

 There are no references from other committees. 
 

 

6. Self-build, Custom-build and Property Development with Social 
Impact  

 

 At the invitation of the Chairman, Gus Zogolovitch, from Unboxed 
Homes, will discuss his experience of the self-build, custom-build and 
property development with social impact housing market.  
 

 

7. Sign Post (Dartford Strategic Housing Mosaic) - Update   

 The Chairman will provide an oral update on progress on ‘Sign Post’ 
(Dartford Strategic Housing Mosaic). 
 

 

8. Council New Build Housing Programme Update (Pages 9 - 12)  

9. Update on the Development of a Private Sector Renewal 
Strategy (Pages 13 - 14) 

 

10. The Charter for Social Housing - White Paper 2021 - Update 
(Pages 15 - 48) 

 

11. Date of Next Meeting and Future Items   

 The next meeting is scheduled to take place at 2.00pm on 13 April 
2022. 
 

 



 

 



1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on Wednesday 13 
October 2021. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor David J Mote (Chairman) 
Councillor Jeremy A Kite MBE (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Tom A Maddison 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor Mrs Ann D Allen MBE 
 

 
 

 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 
 

 Peter Dosad – Director of Housing & Public 
Protection 

 Paul Koster – Head of Housing Services 
 Sonia Collins – Head of Planning 
 Jacke Pye – Housing Development & Policy 

Manager 
 Toni Carter – Housing Solutions & Private Sector 

Manager 
 Alan Twyman – Democratic Services Manager 

 
 

12. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Ann Allen and 
Brian Cooke, Director of Housing at the YMCA, due to bereavement.   
 
The Board was due to receive a presentation from Gus Zogolovitch, Director 
of Unboxed Homes, who was attending the meeting remotely via Zoom. 
Unfortunately the technology could not be made to work and Mr Zogolovitch 
was unable to hear the proceedings or to deliver his presentation. The item 
was therefore deferred, with apologies, and the Chairman said that he would 
invite Mr Zogolovitch to attend the next meeting instead.  

 
13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

14. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD HELD ON  14 JULY 2021 AND MATTERS 
ARISING  
 
The Strategic Housing Board considered the minutes of the meeting held on 
14 July 2021.  

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2021 
 
 

2 

 
Under matters arising, the Chairman said that he had been in touch with Brian 
Downton, from Downton Associates, who had attended the Board’s meeting 
on 7 April 2021. Mr Downton had confirmed that the panel of local mortgage 
managers were putting together their own web site and that once this was 
ready, this could be linked to the Council’s ‘Sign Post’. The Chairman also 
confirmed that following the invitation issued by Brian Cooke at the last 
meeting, he had attended the grand opening of the YMCA building in Romford 
and been very impressed.   
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on 14 
July 2021 be confirmed as an accurate record. 
 
 

15. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

16. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references to from other committees. 
 

17. SELF-BUILD, CUSTOM-BUILD AND PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT WITH 
SOCIAL IMPACT  
 
This item was deferred to the next meeting for the reasons stated in minute 12 
above. 
 

18. SIGN POST (DARTFORD STRATEGIC HOUSING MOSAIC) - UPDATE  
 
The Housing Development and Policy Manager circulated a leaflet that had 
been printed since the last meeting which had been given to key partners in 
the housing sector to “Signpost” residents as to how they can access housing 
in the Borough. The Chairman explained that the leaflet was designed to 
guide people looking for a home in the area to the appropriate housing 
contact and a decision needed to be taken on how to publicise the leaflet and 
as to whether this should be via internal communications, press 
communications, or through local organisations such as the Citizens Advice 
and Libraries. 
 
The Housing Development and Policy Manager explained that she had 
approached the Library and been told that they were unable to hold leaflets. 
The Vice-Chairman said that he felt that this could not be the case and that he 
would raise this with Kent County Council. He felt that publicity should be 
through the Council’s internal communications resources and regular posts on 
social media, including Dartford Together, and through local organisations. 
The Chairman suggested that these could also include local faith groups and 
community wardens as well as organisations such as Citizens Advice and 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2021 
 
 

3 

YMCA and that he wanted to be as proactive as possible in making 
information available. The Board also noted that the leaflet implied a focus on 
homelessness but that the concept behind ‘Signpost’ was to provide 
information across a much wider spectrum of people seeking to live in 
Dartford and that perhaps the leaflet could be revised accordingly. The 
Housing Development and Policy Manager said that only 250 leaflets had 
been printed so far and that it would be possible to make some changes. The 
Chairman agreed to revisit the wording of the first paragraph of the leaflet and 
the Director of Housing & Public Protection said that he would liaise with the 
Communications Team about arrangements to promote the leaflet.    
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That progress on the Dartford Signpost be noted. 
 

19. FEEDBACK FROM THE END TO ROUGH SLEEPING SEMINAR  
 
The Strategic Housing Board received feedback from Toni Carter, Housing 
Solutions & Private Sector Manager, on the recent ‘End to Rough Sleeping’ 
seminar held by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 
which had also been attended by the Leader of the Council, the Board 
Chairman and senior housing officers. She said that the DLUHC seminar was 
held to encourage buy-in from local authority Members but also celebrated the 
work carried out during lockdown to get rough sleepers off of the streets and 
into accommodation. In Dartford temporary emergency accommodation was 
provided for around 120 people who were either sleeping-rough, or in danger 
of ending up on the streets. Of this number the Council had successfully 
moved on the vast majority but was still providing accommodation for 7 
people. This demonstrated that the target to end rough sleeping was 
achievable and the Council had an Action Plan which included a target for 
zero rough-sleepers by the time of the annual snapshot of rough-sleepers on 
16 November. Unfortunately delivering this target was looking challenging as 
there were currently around 10 people sleeping rough, of which 3 did not have 
settled status in the UK and for which the Council had no duty to house. The 
Council was working to provide accommodation for the remaining 7 rough 
sleepers, with Porchlight and the Winter Shelter (who provided support but 
could no longer provide temporary accommodation due to a shortage of 
volunteers), who had co-occuring conditions including substance abuse and 
mental health difficulties and were difficult to house. The only way to get them 
off of the streets was likely to be if the Council provided accommodation. 
 
The Housing Solutions & Private Sector Manager explained the winter model 
that the Council had put in place last year for a 4 month period, including the 
use of a HMO was a success but explained that the Council had not received 
any additional funding for this. This year a much shorter period of support 
would be operated, during the period of the worst weather. It was vital for key 
partners such as the churches to provide support and they would do so by 
providing food, shopping services and ‘buddying’ schemes but could not 
provide accommodation. The HMO was again being used to provide medium 
term accommodation but it was still proving necessary for the Council to ‘spot-

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2021 
 
 

4 

purchase’ nightly accommodation for rough sleepers.  One of the challenges 
faced in trying to eradicate rough sleepers was an unwillingness by the 
individual to engage with the Council. This also applied to the small number of 
people who continued to sleep on the streets in Dartford, whose varying 
needs were described to the Board. The approach to dealing with the 3 
people to whom the Council owed no duty to house was discussed and it was 
noted that the Home Office had no interest in assisting and that the police 
were unable to act, although they had opened a case. The Council had no 
further powers that it could use, unless they committed illegal acts. It was 
noted that all 10 individuals had been housed during lockdown but had either 
chosen to go back to sleeping-rough or been excluded due to extreme 
behaviour. 
 
The Chairman praised the work carried out by the Council and was frustrated 
that there was a perception by some sectors of the local community that 
rough-sleeping was more prevalent than was actually the case. There was a 
need to overcome some of the assumptions that people made over the work 
carried out by the Council. The changed model operated by the Winter Shelter 
was noted. 
 
The Vice-Chairman said that the seminar had celebrated successes during 
lockdown but that no new measures had been brought forward. 
 
The Chairman thanked Toni Carter for her update and thanked her and her 
team for their work. She thanked the Chairman and issued a standing 
invitation for any Councillor who might be interested, to spend some time with 
her team to see the work being carried out first-hand.    
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the update be noted.    
  
 

20. THE SOCIAL HOUSING WHITE PAPER - SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS  
 
The Head of Housing Services introduced a report which summarised the 
proposals contained in the Social Housing White Paper which had been 
published in November 2020 building on the Social Housing Green Paper (‘A 
new deal for Social Housing’). The report set out the five key principles 
contained in the Green Paper, the 7 principles contained in the White Paper 
and the content of the Charter for Social Housing Residents which set out a 
new vision for the way that social housing residents should be treated by way 
of seven themes. 
 
Chapter 7 of the Charter had particular relevance to the Strategic Housing 
Board: 
 
‘To be supported to take a first step to ownership, so that it is a ladder to other 
opportunities, should circumstances allow’. 
 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2021 
 
 

5 

This also detailed the following actions that Landlords should consider: 
 

 Local authorities to assess viability of building more homes  

 Assess viability of using new finance streams for supported housing  

 Assess viability of new shared ownership model (10% stake and 10-

year repair- free period)  

 Assess viability of right to shared ownership on new grant funded 

homes  

 Improve transparency of billing and value for money to leaseholders. 

 
The housing team was currently preparing a detailed action plan to address 
all the actions emanating from the White Paper but in relation to the actions 
required regarding shared ownership, the Council did not develop this tenure 
for new build housing, only affordable rented products to meet identified 
housing need.  Funding conditions for the Government’s 1-4-1 scheme, which 
was used to fund the Council’s new build programme, only allowed affordable 
rented products to be built.  The majority of shared ownership products in 
Dartford were provided by housing associations and much of the affordable 
housing at the Eastern Quarry site was shared ownership or other forms of 
intermediate housing at a ratio of 80/20 intermediate to affordable rent across 
the whole site; providing a sizeable number of new homes to buy. The Council 
was waiting for further information to be released but authorities were being 
encouraged to ascertain the views of their tenants. 
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection said that the White Paper 
primarily focussed on how social tenants should be treated and very little of 
the content was strategic. Authorities were being asked by the Regulator to 
carry out surveys of what they had already done but this would not constitute 
the old audit and inspection regime as such. There was however uncertainty 
over how this might develop. 
 
The Board felt that the Tenants and Leaseholders Joint Liaison Group should 
have an input into this work and the fact that the Council had a well-
established consultative forum put the Council ahead of the game. Further 
reports would be submitted to future committee meetings as this work 
progressed.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

21. UPDATE ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF A PRIVATE SECTOR RENEWAL 
STRATEGY  
 
The Housing Development & Policy Manager provided an update on the 
development of the Council’s new Private Sector Renewal Strategy (PSRS) 
following a review of private housing stock in the borough. Since the Board 
last considered this matter on 7 April 2021 the Private Sector Housing team 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2021 
 
 

6 

had made some progress with the development of the PSRS. The sections of 
the PSRS setting out the introduction, legislative framework, strategic context 
and Borough demographics had been framed, but the final draft, including the 
development of the strategic priorities, had not been completed, mainly due 
to a lack of staff resources within the Private Sector Housing team and the 
need to recruit new officers to various roles. These issues had now been 
resolved. It was aimed to complete the PSRS in the New Year 2022 and 
would help to ensure that Council resources were targeted at areas that need 
it most and to assist in tackling fuel poverty.  The PSRS would also set out 
the types of assistance that would be made available to households for 
housing renewal, for example grants to assist in bringing properties up to a 
decent standard and help with renewable energy initiatives/works and would 
build upon the Council’s previous renewal strategy. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
   
 

22. COUNCIL NEW BUILD HOUSING PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 
The Head of Housing presented an update on the Council’s new build housing 
programme. Since 2012 the Council had developed three sites, within its 
ownership, providing 86 new homes for local people. A further four new build 
sites totalling 32 new housing units had received planning permission. Since 
the last meeting 3 x 1 bedroom bungalows, all wheelchair accessible units, 
had been completed in August 2021 on the site of the former Mead crescent 
depot and new tenants had moved in. However there had been delays to work 
on other sites due to the national shortage of materials, delays to deliveries 
and a shortage of labour. Despite this, units on the former Keary Road garage 
site and the former garage site at Milton Road were due for completion in 
November 2021.  As previously reported, work at the former garage site at 
Gilbert Close had been delayed due to the need for further archaeological 
investigations and problems with the design of the foundations but some 
progress had been made including the installation of main entrance gates and 
the commencement of some pre-start planning conditions.  However, at 
present, there was no firm date for starting building work. 
 
In addition to new build housing, the Council had, since July 2020, acquired 
22 properties on the open market for affordable social housing. The Cabinet 
had recently agreed to increase the amount that could be spent on individual 
purchases from £300,000 to £500,000 under the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegations, which would improve the Council’s ability to compete for 
acquisitions on the open market. The Council was currently interested in 
acquiring three properties, including 5 and 6 bedroomed houses.  
 
The Council had also bid, unsuccessfully, to acquire two separate plots of 
land for development and would continue to try and identify suitable land for 
development on Council, publicly owned and private land where possible, 
however it had proved difficult to find suitable HRA council owned land for 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2021 
 
 

7 

housing development. The report also reminded the Board of changes to the 
regulations governing the pooling of housing receipts, including an increase in 
the proportion of a replacement home that could be funded from Right-to-Buy 
receipts from 30% to 40% and an extension to the timeframe for spending the 
receipts from 3 to 5 years. To date, as a participant in the 1-4-1 scheme the 
Council had successfully spent £13.9m delivering 86 new homes for local 
people and a further £5m on the purchase of 22 market properties since July 
2020. 
 
The Vice-Chairman asked for clarification on the policy regarding the 
installation of electrical vehicle charging points as part of new developments 
and whether the requirement was for there to be one charging point for each 
allocated parking space. The Head of Planning Services explained that, whilst 
this was not planning policy, this was designed to future-proof properties as it 
was cheaper to install the ducting and connections during new developments 
rather than to retro-fit the infrastructure. 
 
The Vice-Chairman also sought, and received, more information on the 
archaeological demands being made at the Gilbert Road development, which 
seemed excessive and were unnecessarily delaying the start of this important 
social housing project. The Director of Housing & Public Protection and the 
Head of Planning agreed to provide him with some background information so 
that he could raise this matter with Kent County Council. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the update on the New Build Housing Programme be noted.    
 

23. DATE OF NEXT MEETING AND FUTURE ITEMS  
 
It was noted that the Board’s next meeting was scheduled to take place at 
2.00pm on 28 January 2022.  
 
The Chairman said that he would invite Mr Zogolovitch to attend the next 
meeting, if available, to give his presentation that had had to be deferred. 
 
The Vice-Chairman noted that since the formation of the Board, two new 
political groups had been established on the Council and he felt that it might 
be appropriate for one or other of the Groups to be represented on the Board. 
The Democratic Services Manager reminded him that the composition of 
Board membership was subject to the statutory proportionality rules, however 
it was open to the Board to appoint observers to attend in the same way that 
Mr Cooke from the YMCA attended meetings.   
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 3.40 pm 

 
  

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2021 
 
 

8 

 
Councillor D Mote 

CHAIRMAN 
 
 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
COUNCIL NEW BUILD HOUSING PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 

 
1. Summary 

1.1. This report provides an update on the Council’s new build housing programme. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1. That the update provided in the body of the report, on the new housing building 

programme, for local people on the Council’s housing register, or allocated directly, 

be noted.  

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 

3.1. On 25 October 2012, the Council entered into an agreement with the Secretary of 

State under the terms of which capital receipts from the sale of Council homes 

were to be retained locally to be invested in the provision of new affordable 

housing.  Since then, the Council has developed three council owned sites in 

Temple Hill, providing 86 new homes for local people on the Council’s housing 

register.  All homes are fully occupied.  

 

3.2. Ongoing Projects 

 

3.2.1. As part of an ongoing process, four new build sites received planning permission 

totalling 32 units.  Individual updates for each site are detailed below.  There have 

been some delays on several sites caused by a national shortage of building 

materials but the delays are not excessive. 

 

3.2.2. Mead Crescent former depot site – 3 x 1 bedroom bungalows, all wheelchair 

accessible units.  The homes were completed in August 2021 and new tenants 

have moved in.  

 
3.2.3. Milton Road former Garage site – 3 x 3 bedroom houses, 2 x 2 bedroom flats 

and 2 x 1 bedroom flats.  The houses at Milton Road are in the final stages of 

snagging.  The flats have been delayed due to Highways objections and lack of 

materials but this is now resolved.  The homes are now due for completion in March 

2022.  

 

3.2.4. Keary Road former Garage site – 4 x 2 bedroom flats and 2 x 1 bedroom flats.  

Kitchens and bathrooms have now been installed and work on the floors is in 

progress.  The pandemic and delays in delivery of materials has impacted on 

progress.  The flats are due for completion in March 2022.  

 

3.2.5. Gilbert Close former garage site – 2 x 3 bedroom houses, 10 x 2 bedroom flats 

and 2 x 1 bedroom flats.  As previously reported to the Board, there are ongoing 

issues at Gilbert Close which have delayed a start on site.  These issues relate 

Page 9 Agenda Item 8



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
mainly to the archaeological investigations required and agreement to the types of 

foundations used.  The borehole drilling required by Kent County Council 

commenced on 10 January 2022 and reptile fencing was erected and is being 

regularly checked.  Progress continues on meeting pre start planning conditions.  

At present, we do not have firm date for a start on the building works.  

 

3.3. Since July 2021, the Council has purchased a total of 22 number of properties on 

the open market, for allocation to households on the Council’s housing register or 

allocated directly.  The Council is currently in the process of purchasing two larger 

properties for council housing (5 and 6 bed houses).   

 

3.4. In addition, the Council was successful in its bid for land at Westgate Road which 

is currently in conveyancing.  It is anticipated that this transaction will complete 

before the end of March 2022.  Once the purchase is completed, the Council will 

look to design a suitable housing scheme and seek planning permission for the 

provision of affordable housing on site.  

 

4. Financial Considerations 
 
4.1 The regulations governing the pooling of housing receipts have been amended 

with changes applied from 1st April 2021. The proportion of a replacement home 
that can be funded by Right to Buy receipts has increased from 30% to 40% and 
the timeframe for spending the receipts has increased from 3 to 5 years.  

 
4.1. As at the 31st March Council held total retained receipts of £4.7m under the 1-4-1 

receipts scheme, which projecting forwards under the new rules, would require an 

estimated spend of £11.75m by 31/12/2026.  

 

4.2. The 2021/2022 to 2023/2024 Capital Programme includes £14.17m for new build 

housing. An ongoing new build housing programme is factored into the Housing 

Revenue Account Business Plan. 

 
4.3. To date, as a participant in the 1-4-1 Scheme, the Council has successfully spent 

£13.9m delivering 86 new homes for local people and a further £6m on the 

purchase of 22 market properties and land since July 2020.   
 

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 

5.1. To support the Council’s overall vision to make Dartford ‘the place of quality and 

choice, a place where people choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure time. 

 

5.2. To support the strategic aim to facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing 

market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality services 

to service users; and to create strong and self-reliant communities.  

 
 
 
 

Page 10Agenda Item 8



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
6. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments 

 

Financial Implications As detailed in the body of the report. 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None specifically at this stage 

Risk Assessment N/A 

  
7. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable.   
 

8. Appendices 

None 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section 
and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

  Jackie Pye 
(01322) 343683 

Housing 
Services/ 
Housing 
and Public 
Protection 

N/A 

 

Page 11 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
UPDATE ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF A PRIVATE SECTOR RENEWAL 
STRATEGY 
 

 
1. Summary 

1.1. This report provides an update on the development of the Council’s new Private Sector 

Renewal Strategy. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1. That the Board notes the progress being made on the preparation of the new 

Private Sector Renewal Strategy.  

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 

3.1. At the meeting of the Board on 13 October 2021, the Board noted that a draft 

Private Sector Renewal Strategy (PSRS) was being developed, following the stock 

condition survey conducted by the Building Research Establishment, to be 

presented to Cabinet in due course (Minute No. 21 refers).  

 

3.2. Since then, the Private Sector Housing and Policy and Development teams have 

made further progress with the development of the PSRS and a draft document 

has been prepared and is currently being finalised prior to consultation.  

 

3.3. The PSRS will aim to address the need for housing renewal in the Dartford area 

and explain how the Council intends to meet this need. It will build upon the work 

already carried out in the implementation of the previous renewal strategy, 

developed in 2009, and will set out the Council’s aims for private sector housing 

renewal from 2022.  

 

3.4. It is recognised that this is an important strategy that will aim to ensure that Council 

resources are targeted at areas that need it most and to assist in tackling fuel 

poverty.  The PSRS will also set out the types of assistance that will be made 

available to households for housing renewal, for example grants to assist in 

bringing properties up to a decent standard and help with renewable energy 

initiatives/works. 

 

3.5. The PSRS will be presented to Cabinet in May 2022, following a formal 

consultation exercise.  

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 

4.6. To support the Council’s overall vision to make Dartford ‘the place of quality and 

choice, a place where people choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure time. 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 9



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
4.7. To support the strategic aim to facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing 

market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality services 

to service users; and to create strong and self-reliant communities.  

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments 

 

Financial Implications None as a result of this report 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None specifically at this stage 

Risk Assessment N/A 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable.   
 

7. Appendices 

None 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

  Jackie Pye 
(01322) 343683 

Housing 
Services/Housing 
and Public 
Protection 

N/A 

 

Page 14Agenda Item 9



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
THE CHARTER FOR SOCIAL HOUSING - WHITE PAPER 2021 – PROGRESS 
UPDATE 
 

 
1. Summary 

1.1. This report provides an update on the progress that the Housing Service is making in 

preparation for the proposals contained in the Government’s Charter for Social 

Housing - White Paper 2021 and recommends accordingly.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1.  That the Board notes the progress being made by the Housing Service on preparing          

for the proposals in the Government’s Charter for Social Housing - White Paper 2021. 

 
2.2. That the Board considers and comments on the draft Charter for Social Housing - 

White Paper 2021 Action Plan, at Appendix A to the report.  

 

2.3. That the full list of tenant satisfaction measures, as set out in Appendix B to the 

report, be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 

3.1. On the 13 October 2021, the Board was updated on the proposals contained in 

the Government’s Social Housing White Paper – ‘The Charter for Social Housing 

Residents’ [Min No. 20 refers]. The White Paper was published on 17 November 

2020 and follows the Social Housing Green Paper (‘A new deal for social 

housing’), published on 14 August 2018. 

 

3.2. In summary, the White Paper “sets out what every social housing resident should 

be able to expect” under the following seven themes:  

 

 To be safe in their home.  

 To know how their landlord is performing, including on repairs, complaints and 

safety, and how it spends its money, so it can be held to account.  

 To have residents’ complaints dealt with promptly and fairly, with access to a 

strong ombudsman who will give residents swift and fair redress when needed.  

 To be treated with respect, backed by a strong consumer regulator and 

improved consumer standards for tenants.  

 To have residents’ voices heard by their landlord, for example through regular 

meetings, scrutiny panels or other body.   

 To have a good quality home and neighbourhood to live in, with your landlord 

keeping your home in good repair.  

 To be supported to take a first step to ownership, so it is a ladder to other 

opportunities; should circumstances allow.  

 

Page 15 Agenda Item 10



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
3.3. This report presents an update on the progress that the Housing Service is making 

to prepare for the proposals in the White Paper. 

 

3.4. Draft Charter for Social Housing - White Paper 2021 Action Plan  

 

3.5. The Housing Service has developed a detailed draft Action Plan to address the 

actions emanating from the White Paper (Appendix A), for consideration and 

comment by the Board. The Board’s comments will inform the preparation of the 

Council’s proposals for the changes being proposed under the White Paper. 

 

3.6. The Action Plan follows the themes of the White Paper and is monitored by a 

working group of key officers, chaired by the Head of Housing. The working group 

meets regularly to discuss progress, providing assurance that important 

milestones are mapped and achieved in preparation for the changes being 

proposed under the White Paper. 

  

3.7. Some examples of key achievements already made under the Action Plan include: 

 

To be safe in your home 
 

 An initial HRA compliance review has been completed with a number of 
actions identified that will inform a compliance strategy on the safety of the 
housing stock (i.e. gas servicing, electrical testing, fire safety, lift safety. 
Asbestos, legionella and water systems). 

To know how your landlord is performing 
 

 A response is being drafted to the Regulator of Social Housing’s consultation 
on a proposed set of tenant satisfaction measures (see 3.14 to 3.19 for further 
information).   

To have your complaints dealt with promptly and fairly 
 

 A complaints page on the housing section of the Council’s website has been 
set up to raise awareness to residents of how to make a complaint and the 
role of the Housing Ombudsman 

 A new process for logging complaints has been set up for the Housing Service  

 A new process for measuring resident satisfaction with complaint handling 
has been set up 

To have your voice heard by your landlord 
 

 A resident engagement survey has been drafted to inform a future strategy 
on resident engagement (see 3.20 to 3.22 for further information). 

 A review of the ways the Housing Service can assist to address loneliness is 
nearing completion. 

 A review of the Vulnerable Adults’ Housing Policy, including a review of the 
support available for vulnerable residents, is nearing completion.  

To have a good quality home and neighbourhood to live in 
 

 A new Domestic Abuse Co-ordinator post is in the process of being recruited 
to who will, amongst other duties, be tasked with developing a Domestic 
Abuse Housing Policy. 

Page 16Agenda Item 10



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 

To be supported to take your first step into ownership 
 

 A review has been undertaken to consider how the new Right to Buy receipt 
flexibilities will be used. 

 
3.8. Implementing the White Paper proposals 

 
3.9. The Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) regulates social housing landlords to 

promote a viable, efficient and well-governed social housing sector. Within the 

regulatory regime, social housing landlords are expected to meet regulatory 

standards, including the economic standard (rent standard only for local authority 

landlords) and consumer standards (home, tenancy, neighbourhood and 

community and tenant and empowerment standards). Currently the RSH operates 

a co-regulatory approach, which is based on seeking assurance from landlords as 

to compliance with the standards. In other words, the onus is on landlords to 

demonstrate their compliance to the RSH.  

 

3.10. The Government believes that the current regime of consumer regulation is not 

strong enough to ensure that social housing landlords deliver to the expectations 

set out in the White Paper. A new consumer regulation function will therefore be 

introduced that will be proactive and will hold all landlords to account for the 

services they deliver. This will include changing the RSH’s objectives to explicitly 

cover safety and transparency. This will be supported by, for example: 

 

 A system of routine inspections to obtain assurance from landlords that they are 

complying with the consumer standards;  

 A requirement on landlords to report on a number of tenant satisfaction 

measures (see 3.13 to 3.18 for further information on the proposed tenant 

satisfaction measures); and 

 A requirement to provide a clear breakdown of how income is being spent. 

 

3.11. The RSH will also require all landlords to identify a responsible person who will 

ensure that the organisation is complying with the consumer standards, and a 

nominated person responsible for compliance with health and safety requirements. 

 

3.12. It is imperative that social housing landlord’s decision-making bodies are 

responsible for ensuring that they implement the aims of the White Paper, including 

ensuring compliance with the new consumer regulations, for example: 

 

 Actively monitoring and scrutinising compliance and performance, including 

ensuring data accuracy for the tenant satisfaction measures. 

 Being alert to any issues of compliance that could expose risks that must be 

mitigated to acceptable levels.  

 

3.13. Consultation on the introduction of tenant satisfaction measures 
 

3.14. The White Paper sets out how social housing landlords will be required to report 
on a set of tenant satisfaction measures to the RSH as part of implementing the 

Page 17 Agenda Item 10



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
changes to the consumer regulations. The measures would provide data about 
social housing landlords’ performance and the quality of their services to help 
tenants hold their landlord to account and help the RSH in its future consumer 
regulation role. On 9 December 2021, the RSH published its consultation on the 
proposed set of tenant satisfaction measures (TSMs), which it intends to come into 
effect in 2023.  
 

3.15. In the consultation, the RSH is proposing to introduce a new consumer standard 
(the TSM standard) which will set out clear expectations for social housing 
landlords regarding their obligations to submit and publish performance 
information in order to meet the White Paper underlying principle of providing 
transparency to tenants. The RSH is proposing to introduce 22 TSMs under the 
following themes, which reflect the themes and issues set out in the White Paper: 

 

 Keeping properties in good repair 
 Maintaining building safety 
 Effective handling of complaints 
 Respectful and helpful engagement 
 Responsible neighbourhood management, including measures on anti-social 

behaviour. 
 

3.16. The TSMs are intended to be a core set of comparable measures that all social 
housing landlords would have to report on and publish annually. The TSMs will be 
made up of 12 measures generated from tenant perception surveys, and 10 
measures generated from management information held by the landlord. 
 

3.17. The Housing Service is currently preparing a response to the RSH’s consultation 
to present to Cabinet on 24 February 2022 for submission to Government by the 
consultation closing date of 3 March 2022. 

 

3.18. A full list of TSMs can be found in Appendix B. 

 
3.19. Resident Engagement Survey 

 
3.20. A Resident Engagement Survey is planned to be undertaken in early 2022 to 

inform a new resident engagement strategy for the Housing Service.  The survey 
will aim to seek views from tenants and leaseholders to obtain a better 
understanding of the following: 
 

 Which aspects of the housing service are most important to residents 

 How residents prefer us to communicate with them about the services we 

provide  

 What residents think of our current engagement opportunities 

 Whether there are any barriers to engagement 

 Which residents not already involved would like to take part in engagement 

opportunities  

 How residents would like to take part that best suits their needs 

 The diversity of our residents so that we can better include everyone 

Page 18Agenda Item 10



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
3.21. The survey will assist the Housing Service to fulfil the current and future regulatory 

requirements, reflecting the requirements of the existing tenant empowerment and 

involvement consumer standard, whilst also looking forward to the future 

requirements from the White Paper. 

 

3.22. Senior officer post 

 

3.23. The proposals in the White Paper reflect some of the biggest changes that the 

social housing sector has experienced in recent years. To support the 

implementation of these changes, authorisation has been given to create a senior 

officer post within the Housing Policy and Development team whose role will be to 

co-ordinate the activity necessary for meeting the forthcoming regulatory 

requirements and to assist in the development and implementation of other policies 

and strategies.   

 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 

4.6. To support the Council’s overall vision to make Dartford ‘the place of quality and 

choice, a place where people choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure time. 

 

4.7. To support the strategic aim to facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing 

market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality services 

to service users; and to create strong and self-reliant communities.  

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments 
 

Financial Implications None as a result of this report 

Legal Implications As detailed in this report 

Staffing Implications As detailed in section 3.22 of the report 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment N/A 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable.   
 

7. Appendices 

Appendix A – Charter for Social Housing - White Paper 2021 Action Plan 
Appendix B – Tenant Satisfaction Measures 
 
  

Page 19 Agenda Item 10



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
28 January 2022 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section 
and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

  Jackie Pye 
(01322) 343683 

Housing 
Services/ 
Housing 
and Public 
Protection 

N/A 

 

Page 20Agenda Item 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

1 
 

The Charter for Social Housing Residents (Social Housing White Paper) – Action Plan 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-charter-for-social-housing-residents-social-housing-white-paper  

 

1. TO BE SAFE IN YOUR HOME 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Building Safety Bill and Fire Safety Bill 
 

The Building Safety Bill will put in place an 
enhanced regulatory regime for buildings. The new 
Building Safety Regulator will enforce a new, more 
stringent regulatory regime for high-rise residential 
and other in-scope buildings (of at least 18 metres 
or 7 storeys) and oversee the safety and 
performance of all buildings. The Bill will also 
strengthen oversight and protections for residents 
in high-rise residential buildings. 
 

The Fire Safety Bill will amend the Fire Safety 
Order 2005 to clarify that a responsible person or 
duty-holder for multi-occupied residential buildings 
must assess the fire safety risks for the structure 
and external walls of the building, including cladding, 
balconies and windows, entrance doors to individual 
flats that open into common parts. Where 
appropriate, the responsible person or duty-holder 
must put in place general fire precautions to mitigate 
any risks in relation to these parts of the building. 

1a Monitor the progression of the 
Building Safety Bill/Fire Safety Bill 
and prepare for the changes 
introduced by the legislation. 
The council does not own any 
buildings over 7 storeys. 

LGi/ 
TS 

Current process in 
place 

The Fire Safety Bill clarifies 
that for any building 
containing two or more sets 
of domestic premises. The 
Order applies to the 
building’s structure and 
external walls and any 
common parts, including the 
front doors of residential 
areas. 
 
Whilst DBC do not have 
classified high rise 
accommodation, more 
generally the legislation will 
bring changes with regard 
the external fabric of all 
blocks. Existing fire risk 
assessments completed 
assess the spread of fire 
both internally in common 
areas and externally. We 
have a programme of 
UPVC cladding 
replacement for non-
combustible. We have also 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-charter-for-social-housing-residents-social-housing-white-paper


APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

2 
 

replaced and upgraded 
tenant’s flat entrance doors 
to fire rated doors.   

Consumer standards to explicitly include 
safety 
 

The Government will legislate to strengthen the 
Regulator of Social Housing’s (RSH) consumer 
regulation objectives to explicitly include safety. 

1b Monitor the progression of the 
development of the new consumer 
standards to explicitly include safety 
and prepare for meeting them  

LGi Ongoing  

1c Review performance data and 
ensure data (i.e. stock condition) is 
up to date to demonstrate 
compliance with the safety of the 
housing stock (i.e. gas servicing, 
electrical testing, fire safety, lift 
safety, asbestos, legionella and 
water systems) 

LGi Action plan to be 
completed Feb 
2022 –some 
actions will require 
12 month targets 

Initial HRA Compliance 
review is complete with a 
number of actions to take 
forward. Action plan to be 
finalised and issued.  

1d Implement regular data checks on 
compliance to gain assurance that 
performance statistics are robust 
and accurate 

LGi Work will 
commence in April 
2022, project being 
scoped now. 
Anticipated that 
project will take 6-
12 months. 
Mobilisation of One 
Housing and the 
Assets/Compliance 
Modules will 
impact timeframes 

Compliance review has 
highlighted that it is not 
currently possible to “at a 
glance” demonstrate 
compliance. Evidence will 
require gathering from a 
number of 
systems/persons/sources. 
Compliance review has 
highlighted the need to 
demonstrate regularly to 
CMT that our stock is 
compliant 

1e Produce a comprehensive 
compliance strategy to cover all HRA 
owned stock 

LGi September 2022 LG to complete. There is an 
understanding of what the 
policy should address. The 
actions that the policy will 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

describe require 
implementation 

1f Develop a position as to when the 
Council will self-report compliance to 
the RSH as will now be required 

LGi March 2023 – 
unless mandatory 
that we provide 
before this. 

 

Nominated senior person responsible for 
health and safety requirements 
The Government will legislate to require social 
landlords to identify and make public a nominated 
person responsible for complying with their 
health and safety requirements. 

1g Identify a nominated senior person 
responsible for health and safety 
compliance that is visible and 
accessible to residents 

PK  This is likely to be Lee 
Gilbert.  

Mandating smoke and carbon alarms in social 
housing 
 

The Government launched a consultation in 
November 2020 on mandating smoke and 
carbon monoxide alarms in social housing. 

1h Launch a programme of smoke and 
carbon monoxide alarm installation/ 
testing/ replacement 

LGi No works required DBC already undertake this.  

Electrical safety standards in social housing 
 

The Government will consult on ways to ensure 
that social housing tenants are protected from 
harm caused by poor electrical safety. 

1i Review electrical safety compliance 
against changes proposed in the 
consultation to ensure it is robust to 
cope with the new standard that will 
likely see timescales reduced to 5 
years (current 10) 

LGi April 2022 Costs to reduce a 10 year 
programme into 5 have 
been calculated. Breyers 
are aware of the potential 
change. Lee Gilbert has 
provided a business case to 
Paul Koster which in 
principle has been 
accepted. A decision is 
required as to when we 
move.  

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

4 
 

2. TO KNOW HOW YOUR LANDLORD IS PERFORMING 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Introduction of performance measures 
 

The RSH will bring in a set of tenant satisfaction 
measures. They would expect an annual statement to be 
provided to every tenant as a minimum and, unless there 
are special reasons, for technology to be used (such as 
an app) to provide this more directly and accessibly. 
 

The Government expects landlords to publish three 
financial measures alongside the tenant satisfaction 
measures, providing clear and accessible information on 
how much landlords are spending on administrative 
costs and executive remuneration.  

2a Prepare for the collection of a national 
set of tenant satisfaction measure data 
 
  

LGr April 22 Quotes sought and 
received.  Survey to be 
carried out in April/May 22. 
 
On 9 November 2021, the 
RSH published its 
consultation on the 
proposed TSMs – closing 
date 3 March 2022. 
 

2aa Prepare resident engagement survey 
and send to all tenants 

JP/SW Jan 22 Draft prepared.  Survey 
Monkey to be used. 

2b Review current performance against the 
proposed measures 

PK/ 
MB 

Sept 22  

2c Prepare for the introduction of a 
requirement to provide a clear 
breakdown of how income is being 
spent, including levels of executive 
remuneration 

PK In place Ready.  Use Housemark. 

2d Review and plan how tenant 
satisfaction and income measure data 
will be reported to tenants at least 
annually (e.g. via the Annual Report) in 
an accessible way, if not continuously 
using technology 

LGr TBA Annual report. 

Introduction of financial reporting measures 
 

The Government wants landlords to provide clear 
information to show how they are making the best use 
of their resources. They will work with the RSH to 

2e Develop the required financial reporting 
mechanisms 

PK In place  

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-introduction-of-tenant-satisfaction-measures


APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

5 
 

2. TO KNOW HOW YOUR LANDLORD IS PERFORMING 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
ensure all landlords provide a clear breakdown of 
how their income is being spent.  

Nominated senior person responsible for consumer 
standards compliance 
The Government wants it to be clear to tenants who, in 
the leadership of their landlord, is responsible for 
ensuring good quality customer service. The RSH will 
require that all landlords identify a ‘responsible 
person’ who will ensure that the organisation is 
complying with consumer standards.  

2f Identify a nominated senior person 
responsible for ensuring compliance with 
the RSH consumer standards 

PK TBA  

 

3. TO HAVE YOUR COMPLAINTS DEALT WITH PROMPTLY AND FAIRLY 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Compliance with the Complaint Handling Code 
 

The Housing Ombudsman (HO) published a new 
Complaint Handling Code in July 2020. Landlords 
are required to comply with the Code. Non-
compliance could result in the HO issuing complaint 
handling failure orders which will outline the details of 
any failure, be notified to the landlord’s governance 
body, the responsible person or the RSH and be 
published on the HO website.  
 
Landlords are required to publish their complaints 
procedures on their websites and in correspondence 
to residents. 
 

3a Develop a complaints page on the 
housing section of the website 
including the HOs definition of a 
complaint and publish our self-
assessment on this page. Link it to the 
corporate complaints page and vice 
versa   

LGr Completed Completed June 2021 - 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-
category/housing2/housing/other-
housing-services/housing-complaints  

3b Assess  further  tenant involvement 
opportunities in the existing landlord/ 
tenant/ HO complaints process 

LGr July 2022 Will form part of the 
proposed resident 
engagement questionnaire. 

3c Review the system for logging 
Housing Service related complaints to 
assist in improved evaluation of 
learning from complaints and 
reporting 

PK/LGr Completed In October 2021, a new 
process for logging 
complaints set up, including 
details of responses and 
any improvement action. 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 10

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing/other-housing-services/housing-complaints
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing/other-housing-services/housing-complaints
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing/other-housing-services/housing-complaints


APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

6 
 

3. TO HAVE YOUR COMPLAINTS DEALT WITH PROMPTLY AND FAIRLY 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Landlords have been asked to self-assess against 
the Code by 31 December 2020 and publish the 
results. 
 
(DBC’s self-assessment was presented to Cabinet on 
the 27 May 2021 and published on the website in 
June 2021. The assessment identified actions 
required to ensure compliance with the Code – as 
listed in this Action Plan. The complaints process is 
published on the corporate complaints section of the 
website). 

3d Review the process for measuring 
satisfaction with the handling of 
complaints (links to 2a) 

PK/LGr Completed In October 2021, a new 
process for measuring 
satisfaction with complaint 
handling set up. Upon 
closure of a complaint, a 
satisfaction survey is sent to 
the complainant and 
followed-up twice over a 
period of four weeks before 
a non-return is recorded. 

3e Ensure that there is a regular review 
of learning from complaints presented 
through updates to portfolio holder, 
DTLF, Strategic Housing Board?? 

PK/LGr Ongoing New complaints system 
being prepared. 

3f Share performance and learning on 
complaints in the Annual Report and in 
newsletters 

PK/ 
LGr 

Ongoing To be included in Annual 
report. 

3g Re-assess against the Code following 
completion of the above actions (3a to 
3f) by June 2022 

SW June 2022 Start review in April 2022 

New services provided by the Housing 
Ombudsman 
 

From March 2021, the HO will publish reports on 
the complaints it has handled for individual 
landlords, as well as the determinations on 
individual cases. The Government wants the HO to 
use its increased resources to support improved 
complaint handling by landlords and to resolve a 
greater proportion of formal complaints quickly 
using mediation. 

3h Review how the new services offered 
by the HO, including the publishing of 
reports and mediation can be utilised 
to improve services 

PK/DE Ongoing Mediation is already in 
place for complaints 
including stage via the 
designated person before it 
escalates to the 
Ombudsman unless the 
democratic filter is removed 
in the Building Safety Bill. 

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

7 
 

3. TO HAVE YOUR COMPLAINTS DEALT WITH PROMPTLY AND FAIRLY 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Removal of the democratic filter 
 

The Government has set out in the Building Safety Bill 
how they will speed up access to the HO by removing 
the need for residents to go to a designated person or 
wait eight weeks before approaching them – removing 
the ‘democratic filter’. 

3i Prepare for the removal of the 
democratic filter in the complaints 
process 

PK/JP 
Corporate 
decision 

TBA The Building Safety Bill was 
introduced in the House of 
Commons on 5 July 2021. 
Section 139 (Housing 
complaints made to a 
housing ombudsman) 
includes the removal of the 
designated person. Royal 
Assent is anticipated 9-12 
months after introduction. It 
is intended for the removal 
of the democratic filter to 
come into force within six to 
twelve months of Royal 
Assent. 
 
Review documentation 
referring to the DP once 
legislated 

 
 
 

4. TO BE TREATED WITH RESPECT 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
New Code of Practice on the consumer standards 
 

The Government wants to strengthen the consumer regulation 
regime. The RSH will be given the power to publish a Code of 

4a Self-assess against the RSH current 
consumer standards and put in place 
improvement plans to meet any areas 
where the standards are not met 

PK/LGr TBA  

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

8 
 

4. TO BE TREATED WITH RESPECT 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Practice on the consumer standards to be clearer on what 
landlords are required to deliver. 
 

The RSH will review all its consumer standards to ensure they 
remain up-to-date and deliver its statutory objectives. The 
RSHs consumer regulation objectives will explicitly include 
safety. 

4b Monitor the progression of the 
publishing of the Code of Practice on 
the consumer standards and once 
published,  self-assess against the 
revised standards putting in place 
improvement plans to meet any areas 
where the standards are not met 

PK/LGr TBA  

Introduction of an inspection regime 
 

The RSH will introduce a system of routine inspections to 
obtain assurance from landlords that they are complying with 
the consumer standards. They aim to inspect landlords with 
over 1,000 homes every 4 years. 
 

It is likely that in-between routine inspections, annual desk-
top reviews will be carried out once a year for all landlords. 
Information may come from a number of sources, including 
tenant satisfaction measures, evidence of systemic issues 
raised by tenants or others, and information from other 
regulators and the Housing Ombudsman. 
 

Reactive investigations and/or inspections may also be 
instigated where specific issues arise that need to be dealt 
with at a faster pace or focused inspections to examine 
assurance in delivering a specific service to tenants 

4c Prepare for a regime of routine 
inspections and annual desk top 
reviews 

PK/LGr TBA Forms part of this 
action plan. 

4d Ensure there are communication plans 
in place to publicise RSH judgements 
on performance and on compliance with 
the judgements 

LGr July 2022 To be progressed. 

Strengthening the RSHs powers to enforce 
 

The Government will legislate to: 

 Enable the RSH to require a Performance Improvement 
Plan for landlords who fail to comply with a consumer 
standard 

 Reduce the notice period that the RSH must give a 
landlord to survey the condition of properties from 28 
days to 2 days 

4e Prepare to produce Performance 
Improvement Plans where there has 
been a failure to comply with a 
consumer standard 

PK/MB TBA To be progressed. 

4f Ensure there are procedures in place 
for the surveying of properties within 48 
hours when residents claim they are 
living in unacceptable or unsafe 

LGi Ongoing To be agreed 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

9 
 

4. TO BE TREATED WITH RESPECT 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
 Enable the RSH, following completion of a survey, to 

arrange repairs of dwellings in an emergency where 
there is clear systematic failure by the landlord 

 Remove the requirement for the RSH to seek approval 
from the Secretary of State before employing its own staff 
to carry out inspections for breaches of consumer 
standards 

 Remove the cap on the level of fines the RSH is able to 
issue 

conditions and this is endorsed by 
regulation. 

Local authorities will be held to account 
 

Social tenants should receive the same level of service, 
regardless of who their landlord is. The regulator currently 
has limited interaction with local authorities as they are not 
subject to the governance and viability standard or the value 
for money standard. The changes set out to deliver proactive 
oversight of consumer standards will provide the regulator 
with greater oversight of the performance of local authorities’ 
landlord function. The Government will work with the RSH to 
set out an expectation for local authorities to self-refer 
breaches of the consumer standards to ensure that 
issues of concern to tenants are dealt with as quickly as 
possible. 

4g Ensure there are mechanisms in place 
to self-refer to the RSH because of 
potential/ actual breaches in the 
consumer standards 

JP May 22 Self-referring 
procedure/letter to be 
developed. 

 

5. TO HAVE YOUR VOICE HEARD BY YOUR LANDLORD 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Learning from best practice to improve tenant 
engagement 
The Government wants to embed a culture of continuous 
improvement with landlords’ approach to tenant 
engagement. They want to ensure that landlords do more 

5a Seek out best practice to help 
engage more effectively with 
residents 

LGr Ongoing Resident Engagement 
Survey has been 
drafted to inform a new 
Resident Engagement 
Strategy. See 2aa 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

10 
 

5. TO HAVE YOUR VOICE HEARD BY YOUR LANDLORD 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
to draw on and learn from best practice on engagement, 
including from other sectors. They will expect the RSH to 
require landlords to show how they have sought out 
and considered ways to improve tenant engagement. 

5b Identify the obstacles to more 
effective engagement with residents 
and look at ways to overcome them 

LGr Ongoing Consideration of any 
barriers to engagement 
will be included in the 
Resident Engagement 
Survey. 

New opportunities and empowerment programme 
 

To support residents to engage effectively, the Government 
will deliver a new opportunities and empowerment 
programme open to all social housing residents, to 
support their effective engagement with landlords. The 
programme will deliver a range of learning and support 
activities, as well as providing information for residents on 
ways to get involved, including their opportunities and 
rights to do this. Through this work, residents will be given 
the tools to better scrutinise, influence and hold landlords 
to account and drive delivery of higher quality services that 
are focused on their needs.  

5c Carry out a review of how residents 
scrutinise performance 

LGr Begin Feb 
2022 

 

5d Review training and development 
opportunities for residents in order to 
enhance their engagement role 

LGr Begin Feb 
2022 

 

5e Review the representation of 
residents on decision making boards/ 
panels/ working groups including 
how to ensure that Members are 
aware of the new proposals and how 
decisions will be need to be made.  
This could include discussion at the 
Strategic Housing Board/Cabinet 

LGrJP Jan 22 Report to SHB Jan 22. 

Combatting loneliness 
 

The Government believes landlords have a role in 
combating loneliness experienced by some residents. 
Loneliness has been exacerbated by Covid-19. The 
Government is keen to ensure that loneliness is tackled 
and that landlords focus on engaging with and supporting 
their most vulnerable residents. 

5f Review the ways the Housing 
Service can work with residents, 
community groups, voluntary bodies 
and statutory agencies to address 
loneliness  

DE/LGr/SW Jan 22 The Loneliness Review 
report has been finalised 
by SW following internal 
consultation with each 
service area. The report 
contains ideas for ways 
to address loneliness for 
further consideration 
and decision. 

5g Review the support for vulnerable 
residents (e.g. those suffering from 

DE Jan 22 As part of the review of 
the Vulnerable Adults’ 
Housing Policy (5h), 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

11 
 

5. TO HAVE YOUR VOICE HEARD BY YOUR LANDLORD 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 

poor mental health) and plan 
accordingly 

each service area was 
consulted on reviewing 
the support for 
vulnerable residents. 
The draft Customer 
Access Review 
contains some 
recommended actions 
from the review. 

5h Update the Vulnerable Adults’ 
Housing Policy in response to the 
above reviews (5f and 5g) 
 
 

JP/SW in 
consultation 

with  
relevant 

Managers 

Jan 22 The Vulnerable Adults’ 
Housing Policy has 
been updated in draft 
following internal 
consultation with each 
service area. 

Review of professional training and development 
 

The Government has heard positive experiences of 
landlord staff who treated residents with care and respect. 
But they also heard that this is not always the case, and 
there were incidences where people felt talked down to or 
ignored by staff and contractors. They want all landlord 
staff to act professionally, listen to their residents and, at all 
times, treat them with courtesy and respect. To support 
this, they will establish a review of professional training 
and development to consider the appropriate 
qualifications and standards for social housing staff in 
different roles, including senior staff. 

5i Assess the training needs of leaders/ 
staff and devise a training plan so 
that they can deliver higher 
standards of customer service 

PK TBA  

5j Devise a training programmes to 
ensure leaders/ staff can meet the 
enhanced expectations of the RSH on 
service delivery 

PK TBA  

 
 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

12 
 

6. TO HAVE A GOOD QUALITY HOME AND NEIGHBOURHOOD TO LIVE IN 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Review of the Decent Homes Standard 
 

The Government will review the Decent Homes 
Standard to consider if it should be updated, including 
how it can better support the decarbonisation and energy 
efficiency of social homes, and improve communal and 
green spaces, including security from crime and anti-social 
behaviour. Plans are being devised to deliver Decent 
Homes ‘Plus’ standards that meet residents’ needs and 
emerging Government objectives. 

6a Monitor the progression of the 
Government’s review and develop a 
revised programme of planned 
works to comply with a new Decent 
Homes Standard 

LGi Ongoing. 
Phase two 
of 
consultation 
due to 
conclude in 
June 2022 

It’s anticipated that a 
revision of the DHS will 
occur. Part 2 of the 
consultation is due to 
conclude in the 
summer of 2022. We 
anticipate that the 
revised standard will 
look at common areas, 
ASB and energy. 
Insight of what the 
consultation will deliver 
will be monitored and 
tracked via housing 
news/inside housing 
etc.  

6b Develop plans to decarbonise the 
housing stock by 2050 as well as 
plans to have all (maybe avg) 
properties at EPC C by 2030 

LGi The Director 
of Housing 
and Public 
Protection 
has created 
a carbon 
steering 
group. HRA 
housing 
could be 
included 
within this. 
Policy and 
software to 

The existing stock 
average EPC rating is 
C, which meets the 
current target. Where 
the target might be for 
all individual properties 
to reach C or better we 
are scoping out 
improvements to those 
homes. Two key 
requirements to our 
strategy for 
decarbonisation: 1. 
Decarbonisation 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

13 
 

6. TO HAVE A GOOD QUALITY HOME AND NEIGHBOURHOOD TO LIVE IN 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 

be 
completed 
April 2023  

strategy for the HRA. 
2.Purchase and 
implementation of 
carbon reduction 
modelling software 

Supporting residents suffering from mental health 
problems 
The Government emphasises the role of social landlords 
supporting the mental and physical health of residents (in 
part through the creation of a safe, well managed and 
‘beautiful’ environment). They also recognise that domestic 
pets ‘bring joy, happiness and comfort to people’s 
lives, helping their owners through difficult times and 
improving their mental wellbeing’. Their review of 
professionalism (outlined in Section 5) will consider how 
well housing staff are equipped to work with people 
with mental health needs and we will encourage best 
practice for landlords working with those with mental health 
needs. 

6c Revisit the policy on keeping pets 
 

JP/SW in 
consultation 
with AH/TS 

Complete. Our Policy is adequate 
in that it allows 
domestic pets to be 
kept in properties, 
although there are 
exceptions for housing 
schemes. 

6d Review training needs for staff on 
mental health awareness and 
devise a training programme 

PK TBA  

Supporting tenants facing anti-social behaviour and 
crime 
It is not always clear to tenants who is responsible for 
responding to anti-social behaviour when they raise 
concerns. The Government will clarify the different 
responsibilities that police, local authorities and their 
landlords have, including information about the 
Community Trigger. 
 

The Government will work with the National Housing 
Federation and Local Government Association to 
encourage social landlords to inform residents of their 
right to make a community trigger application, and 
where appropriate, that they act as an advocate in 

6e Deliver the ASB Communications 
Plan (i.e. leaflet, process map, 
website) 

SW/CSU/DE April 22 Partially completed – 
CSU taking forward.  
SW to revisit drafting 
of leaflet. 
 
 

6f Review how residents are made 
aware of and supported to make a 
community trigger application 

CSU/DE TBA  

6g Review the process for monitoring 
and supporting vulnerable tenants 
who may be at risk of grooming by 
gangs/ ‘cuckooing’ 

CSU/DE TBA  

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

14 
 

6. TO HAVE A GOOD QUALITY HOME AND NEIGHBOURHOOD TO LIVE IN 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
supporting tenants to take an application forward with the 
relevant authority. 
 

The Government wants to see all social landlords using 
their knowledge of vulnerable tenants to monitor and 
support those tenants who may be at risk of grooming by 
gangs/ ‘cuckooing’. 
 

(DBC’s ASB Policy was reviewed in March 2021 and ensured 
that the roles of different departments and agencies were 
clarified). 

Integrating social housing in communities 
 

Mixed-tenure development and well-integrated housing can 
tackle stigmatisation and challenge segregation. The 
Governments’ Integrated Communities Strategy Action Plan 
sets out cross-government measures to build integrated 
communities and challenge segregation. Integration Areas 
were announced in the Integrated Communities Strategy 
Green Paper with the aim that government would work with 
local authorities and other partners to co-design integration 
strategies to take tailored actions to address the challenges 
specific to their place. The Government aims to build on 
the results of this work and to embed innovative 
approaches to housing. 

6h Consider putting in place 
mechanisms to encourage 
integration in local communities to 
combat segregation between tenants 
and others living in blocks/ on estates 

Planning/JP Ongoing Planning and Housing 
work together to 
ensure compliance 
with local planning 
policies regarding 
affordable housing and 
mixed tenure 
developments. 

Ensuring social housing is allocated fairly 
 

The Government will publish the results of the 
allocations consultation and consider the findings to 
ensure that housing is allocated in the fairest way 
possible. This will include considering: 

 How to improve joint working between local authorities 
and housing associations to ensure that social housing 
is being allocated fairly 

6i Review the Housing Allocations 
Policy to ensure it meets the 
Governments’ aims  

JP/SW/TC Summer 
2022 

 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

15 
 

6. TO HAVE A GOOD QUALITY HOME AND NEIGHBOURHOOD TO LIVE IN 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
 How to remove barriers to access to social housing for 

homeless households 

 How to ensure vulnerable households are able to 
navigate local authorities’ allocations systems 

 

The Government will also look at how they can improve 
access to suitable homes for disabled people. 
 

The Government is committed to ensuring the Armed 
Forces community get the priority for social housing they 
deserve. Last year the Government published statutory 
guidance for local authorities to improve access to social 
housing for members of the Armed Forces, veterans, and 
their families.  
Supporting tenants facing domestic abuse 
 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 places a statutory duty on 
county and unitary councils in England (excluding London 
Boroughs), as well as the Greater London Authority and 
the Isles of Scilly Council, to work with other bodies to 
develop a strategy for, and commission services to 
provide support for victims of domestic abuse and their 
children within safe accommodation. Landlords must work 
with local authorities to deliver this requirement. The 
Government will expect the RSH to review and amend its 
regulatory standards to make it clear that landlords 
should have a policy setting out how they should 
tackle issues surrounding domestic abuse. 

6j Develop a Domestic Abuse Housing 
Strategy 

JP/TC/DA 
Coordinator 

Autumn 
2022 

Old policy in place. 
New Domestic Abuse 
Strategy will be 
developed when the 
Domestic Abuse Co-
ordinator post is filled 
and will cover Dartford 
and Gravesham. 
 
 

 
 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

16 
 

7. TO BE SUPPORTED TO TAKE YOUR FIRST STEP INTO OWNERSHIP 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 

This part of the Charter does not announce any new policy initiatives. Instead there is a reaffirmation of measures that have already been set out in 
previous statements by Ministers. 
New Infrastructure Levy 
 

There are proposals to replace the S106 regime as 
a means of securing new affordable housing through 
the planning process. The Infrastructure Levy (as 
proposed) would still deliver affordable housing at 
existing levels (according to the Charter). 

7a Prepare for the introduction of the 
new Infrastructure Levy 

JP/Planning 
team 

Awaiting 
government 
guidance/directives 

 

Right to Buy receipts flexibilities 
 

The Government is considering ways Right to Buy 
receipts can be used more flexibly to enable local 
authorities to build more affordable housing. 

7b Consider how the new Right to 
Buy receipt flexibilities will be used 

PK/JP Completed New rules in place.  
Payback of interest 
extended to 5 years. 

Community-led housing 
 

The Charter sees a role for community-led groups 
(including community land trusts and housing 
cooperatives) as a means of delivering high quality 
affordable housing which cannot be provided through 
other means. 

7c Explore opportunities for working 
with community-led groups to 
increase the delivery of affordable 
housing 

JP N/A We have sufficient 
resources to deliver 
council housing at 
present. 

Building beautiful 
 

The ‘Building Better, Building Beautiful’ 
Commission was established in November 2018, to 
advise the Government on how to promote high 
quality design for new build homes and 
neighbourhoods, making them more likely to be 
welcomed by existing communities. The 
recommendations apply to all new homes, 
regardless of tenure. The Government as also 
amended the National Planning Policy Framework 
and published a new National Design Guide to 
emphasise the importance of beauty and good 
design. 

7d Consider how to use the Building 
Better Building Beautiful report and 
the National Design Guide in the 
affordable house building 
programme 

Planning 
team 

TBA by Planning. Will discuss with 
Planning. 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX A – SOCIAL HOUSING CHARTER – WHITE PAPER 2021 ACTION PLAN 
 

17 
 

7. TO BE SUPPORTED TO TAKE YOUR FIRST STEP INTO OWNERSHIP 
 
Aims No Action Who When Status 
Supporting leaseholds in social housing 
 

The Government is committed to promoting fairness 
and transparency for all leaseholders, both in the 
social and private sectors, and ensuring consumers 
are protected from abuse and poor service. The 
White Paper reforms are designed to benefit 
leaseholders in the social housing sector by: 

 increasing transparency on overall spend and 
performance by landlords; 

 putting a stronger focus on managing 
neighbourhoods and communal spaces; and 

 ensuring better engagement so that the concerns 
of leaseholders can be heard 

7e Consider how the leaseholder 
reforms can be delivered.  Will 
Include tenants in mixed tenure 
blocks. 

AH/DE Ongoing Leaseholders to be 
included in future 
engagement 
strategies and 
included in the 
forthcoming 
consultation survey. 

 
Responsible persons: 
 
PK – Paul Koster 
JP – Jackie Pye 
LGi – Lee Gilbert 
LGr – Louise Gray 
AH – Alison Haines 
DE – David Edie 
SW – Sarah Williamson 
JG – John Gibson 
TC – Toni Carter 
RE – Rachel Evans 
TS – Terry Smith 
MB – Malcolm Bowman 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 38



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

1 
 

 Proposed Tenant Satisfaction Measure (TSM) Standard 

 

1. Required outcome 
 
1.1. Registered providers must collect and provide information to support effective scrutiny by tenants of their landlord’s performance in managing their 
homes and neighbourhoods. 
 
2. Specific expectations 
 
2.1 Registered providers must meet the regulator’s requirements in relation to the tenant satisfaction measures set by the regulator as set out in Tenant 
Satisfaction Measures: Technical Requirements and Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Tenant Survey Requirements. 
 
2.2 Registered providers must: 
 
a. collect information specified by the regulator relating to their performance against the tenant satisfaction measures. The information must be collected 
within a timeframe set by the regulator and must meet the regulator’s requirements in Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Technical Requirements and 
Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Tenant Survey Requirements. 
 
b. annually publish their performance against the tenant satisfaction measures. This should include information about how they have met the regulator’s 
requirements set out in Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Technical Requirements and Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Tenant Survey Requirements. This 
information must be published in a manner that is timely, clear, and easily accessed by tenants. 
 
c. annually submit to the regulator information specified by the regulator relating to their performance against those measures. The information must be 
submitted within a timeframe and in a form determined by the regulator. 
 
2.3 In meeting paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 above, registered providers must ensure that the information is an accurate, reliable, valid, and transparent 
reflection of their performance against the tenant satisfaction measures. 
 
 
 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

2 
 

Proposed Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSM) 
 
 Perception measures – tenant satisfaction survey method 
 Management information 

Theme Code Issue TSM 

Overall satisfaction TP01 Overall satisfaction Proportion of respondents who report that they are very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied with the overall service from their 
landlord. 
 
The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 
asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
‘Taking everything into account, how satisfied or 
dissatisfied are you with the service provided by your 
landlord?’ 

Keeping Properties in 
Good Repair 
  
  
 

RP01 Homes that do not meet the Decent Homes Standard Proportion of homes that do not meet the Decent 
Homes Standard. 

RP02 Repairs completed within target timescale Proportion of (non-emergency) responsive repairs 
completed within the provider’s target timescale during 
the reporting year. 
 
For context, providers must also report their target 
timescales for completing (non-emergency) responsive 
repairs used to generate this TSM. 

TP02 Satisfaction with repairs Proportion of respondents who have received a repair in 
the last 12 months who report that they are very satisfied or 
fairly satisfied with the repairs service. 
 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

3 
 

The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 
asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
First question 
 
‘Has your landlord carried out a repair to your home in 
the last 12 months?’ Yes/No. 
 
If yes, Second question 
 
‘How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the repairs 
service you have received to your home from your 
landlord over the last 12 months?’ 

TP03 Satisfaction with time taken to complete most recent 
repair 

Proportion of respondents who have received a repair in 
the last 12 months who report that they are very satisfied or 
fairly satisfied with the time taken to complete their most 
recent repair. 
 
The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 
asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
First question 
 
‘Has your landlord carried out a repair to your home in 
the last 12 months?’ Yes/No. 
 
If yes, Second question 
 
‘How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the time 
taken to complete your most recent repair after you 
reported it?’ 

Maintaining Building 
Safety 

BS01 Gas safety checks Proportion of homes for which all required gas safety 
checks have been carried out. 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

4 
 

  
  
  
  
  

BS02 Fire safety checks Proportion of homes for which all required fire risk 
assessments have been carried out. 

BS03 Asbestos safety checks Proportion of homes for which all required asbestos 
management surveys or re-inspections have been 
carried out. 

BS04 Water safety checks Proportion of homes for which all required legionella 
risk assessments have been carried out. 

BS05 Lift safety checks Proportion of homes for which all required communal 
passenger lift safety checks have been carried out. 

TP04 Satisfaction that the home is well maintained and safe to 
live in 

Proportion of respondents who report that they are very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied that their home is well maintained 
and safe to live in. 
 

The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 

asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
‘Thinking specifically about the building you live in … 
How satisfied or dissatisfied are you that your landlord 
provides a home that is well maintained and safe for 
you to live in?’ 

Effective Handling of 
Complaints 
  
  
  

CH01 Complaints relative to the size of the landlord Number of: 
 
1. Stage one complaints received per 1,000 homes 
during the reporting year and 
 
2. Stage two complaints received per 1,000 homes 
during the reporting year. 
 

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

5 
 

Providers must adhere to the definitions of ‘complaint’, 
‘stage one’ and ‘stage two’ as set out in the Housing 
Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code. 

CH02 Complaints responded to within Complaint Handling Code 
timescales 

Proportion of: 
 
1.Stage one complaints responded to within the 
Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code 
timescales and 
 
2. Stage two complaints responded to within the 
Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code 
timescales. 

TP11 Satisfaction with the landlord’s approach to handling of 
complaints 

Proportion of respondents who report that they are very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied with their landlord’s handling of 
complaints. 
 

The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 

asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
‘How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with your 
landlord’s approach to complaints handling?’ 

TP12 Tenant knowledge of how to make a complaint Proportion of respondents who report that they strongly 
agree or agree with the statement “I know how to make a 
complaint to my landlord if I am not happy with the service I 
receive”. 
 

The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 

asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
‘To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 
following’: 
 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

6 
 

“I know how to make a complaint to my landlord if I am 
not happy with the service I receive?” 

Respectful and Helpful 
Engagement 
  
  

TP05 Satisfaction that the landlord listens to tenant views and 
acts upon them 

Proportion of respondents who report that they are very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied that their landlord listens to 
tenant views and acts upon them. 
 
The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 
asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
‘How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the extent to 
which your landlord listens to your views and acts 
upon them?’ 

TP06 Satisfaction that the landlord keeps tenants informed 
about things that matter to them 

Proportion of respondents who report that they are very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied that their landlord keeps tenants 
informed about things that matter to them as a tenant. 
 
The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 
asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
‘How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the way your 
landlord keeps you informed about things that matter 
to you as a tenant?’ 

TP07 Agreement that the landlord treats tenants fairly and with 
respect 

Proportion of respondents who report that they strongly 
agree or agree that their landlord treats them fairly and with 
respect. 
 
The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 
asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
‘To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 
following “my landlord treats me fairly and with 
respect”?’ 

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

7 
 

Responsible 
neighbourhood 
management 
  
  
  

NM01 Anti-social behaviour cases relative to the size of the 
landlord 

Number of ASB cases opened per 1,000 homes by or 
on behalf of the registered provider during the 
reporting year. 

TP08 Satisfaction that the landlord keeps communal areas 
clean, safe and well maintained 

Proportion of respondents who report that they are very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied that their landlord keeps 
communal areas clean, safe and well maintained. 
 
The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 
asked as a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
First question: ‘Do you live in a building with communal 
areas, either inside or outside, that you share with 
other people who live in the building?’ 
 
Yes/No. 
 
If yes, Second question 
 
‘How satisfied or dissatisfied are you that your landlord 
keeps these communal areas clean, safe and well 
maintained?’ 

TP09 Satisfaction that the landlord makes a positive contribution 
to neighbourhoods 

Proportion of respondents who report that they are very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied with the extent to which their 
landlord makes a positive contribution to the 
neighbourhood. 
 
The question used to generate this TSM would need to be 
asked as a perception survey and our lead option for the 
wording is: 
 
‘Thinking about what your landlord does to improve 
your neighbourhood as a place to live… How satisfied 
or dissatisfied are you with the extent to which your 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

8 
 

landlord makes a positive contribution to your 
neighbourhood?’ 
 
We are also seeking views on the following alternative 
perception survey wording on responsible neighbourhood 
management: 
 
‘How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with your 
neighbourhood as a place to live?’ 

TP10 Satisfaction with the landlord’s approach to handling of 
anti-social behaviour 

Proportion of respondents who report that they are very 
satisfied or fairly satisfied with their landlord’s handling of 
anti-social behaviour. 
 
The question used to generate this TSM must be asked as 
a perception survey using the following wording: 
 
‘How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with your 
landlord’s approach to handling anti-social behaviour?’ 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 10



APPENDIX B – TENANT SATISFACTION MEASURES 
 

9 
 

 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 48


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on  13 October 2021 and Matters Arising
	8 Council New Build Housing Programme Update
	9 Update on the Development of a Private Sector Renewal Strategy
	10 The Charter for Social Housing - White Paper 2021 - Update
	Appendix A - Draft Action Plan
	appendix B - tenant satisfaction measure


